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Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Santa Cruz County Bank (the "Bank"), which 
comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related statements of income, 
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the 
related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Santa Cruz County Bank as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations 
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America.  

Crowe LLP 

Sacramento, California 
March 17, 2020 

Crowe 
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SANTA CRUZ COUNTY BANK
BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018 
ASSETS 
Cash and due from financ ial institutions $ 19,330,532 $ 11 ,552,290 
Federal funds sold 30,700,190 5,370,193 

Cash and cash equivalents 50 ,030,722 16,922,483 

Interest-bearing deposits in other financial institutions 135,786,000 95,205,000 
Debt Securities available for sale 52 ,344,896 26,272,050 
Debt Securities held to maturity (fai r value 2019-$15,444,362 ; 2018-$21 ,794, 111 ) 15,078,677 21 ,612,885 
Loans held for sale 23,800,497 19,202,395 
Loans, net of allowance of $10,296,230 in 2019; $9,836,731 in 2018 723,419,023 461 ,342,303 
Federal Home Loan Bank stock, at cost 3,420,200 2,179,800 
Bankers Bank stock, at cost 456,215 170,000 
Premises and equipment, net 7,647,742 3,096,039 
Goodwi ll 25,761,654 
Core deposit intangible asset, net 3,569,000 
Bank owned life insurance 13,785,945 8,529,211 
Deferred income tax 3,962,451 3,887,065 
Accrued interest receivable 3,220,560 2,398,284 
Right-of-use assets 4,942 ,681 
Other assets 3,757,106 1,590,842 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,070 ,983,369 $ 662,408,357 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Deposits 

Non-interest bearing $ 345,604,709 $ 259,724,984 
Interest bearing 558,743,313 324,400,825 

Tota l deposits 904,348,022 584,125,809 

Accrued interest payable 193,330 157,970 
Lease liabi lities 5,057,206 
Other liabili ties 10,286,443 9,601,576 

Total liabil ities 919,885,001 593,885,355 

Commitments and Contingencies - See Note 17 

Shareholders' equity 
Preferred stock, no par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 
no shares issued or outstand ing 
Common stock, no par value; 30,000,000 shares authorized ; 
3,849,841 and 2,448,594 shares issued at December 31 , 2019 
and 2018 respectively 94,834,188 24,313,164 
Additional paid-in capital 12,558,094 12,083,645 
Retained earnings 43,704,318 32 ,335,096 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 1,768 (208,903) 

Total shareholders' equity 151,098,368 68,523,002 

TOT AL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 1,070,983,369 $ 662,408,357 



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY BANK
STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years ended December 31,

2019 2018
Interest and dividend income
Loans, including fees $      32,891,233 $      27,264,058
Interest-bearing deposits in other financial institutions           2,547,132           1,736,710
Taxable securities           1,023,405              800,917
Tax-exempt securities              246,337              304,081
Dividends on FHLB and PCBB and TIB stock              192,373              195,201
Federal funds sold
     Total interest and dividend income

            
       

 472,807              309,238
 37,373,287         30,610,205

Interest expense
Deposits           2,187,596           1,332,816
Federal Home Loan Bank advances  210  237
Federal Funds purchased
     Total interest expense          

 387  336
 2,188,193           1,333,389

Net interest income         35,185,094         29,276,816
Provision for loan losses
     Net interest income after provision for loan losses

            
       

 450,000              687,500
 34,735,094         28,589,316

Noninterest income
Service charges on deposits              602,711              573,231
Net gains on sales of loans              782,418              722,493
Loan servicing fees              612,460              652,004
Loss on disposal of fixed assets  (1,773)  -
Other           1,450,739           1,274,265
     Total noninterest income           3,446,555           3,221,993

Noninterest expense
Salaries and employee benefits         10,795,030           9,108,649
Occupancy           1,312,189           1,336,964
Furniture and equipment              999,464              682,312
Marketing and business development              546,499              465,769
Data and item processing              910,127              738,646
Federal deposit insurance              196,547              264,241
Provision for (reduction of) off balance sheet commitments  (9,614)  42,832
Amortization of core deposit intangibles              138,000  -
Acquisition expenses           3,341,558  -
Other           2,523,888           3,305,425
     Total noninterest expense         20,753,688         15,944,838

Income before income taxes         17,427,961         15,866,471
Income tax expense           5,152,711           4,486,385
Net income $      12,275,250 $      11,380,086

Earnings per share:
     Basic
     Diluted

$
$

 4.51 $  4.68
 4.47 $  4.61

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY BANK
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years ended December 31,

2019 2018

Net income $      12,275,250 $      11,380,086

Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized losses on available for sale securities:
   Unrealized holding losses arising during the period (24,659) (91,389)
   Reclassification adjustment for losses included in net income -                          -   
   Tax effect
   Net of tax

 7,289  27,015
(17,370) (64,374)

Unrealized frozen gains on securities transferred to held to maturity
   Amortization of unrealized frozen gain during the period 33,577 24,761 
   Reclassification adjustment for losses included in net income -                          -   
   Tax effect (9,927)  (7,318)
   Net of tax 23,650 17,443 

Defined benefit pension plans:
   Actuarial net gain arising during the period              261,770 66,078 
   Reclassification adjustment for amortization of prior service
     cost and net gain/loss included in net periodic pension cost 28,408             (161,199)
   Tax effect
   Net of tax

(85,787) 28,121 
             204,391 (67,000)

Total other comprehensive income (loss)              210,671             (113,931)

Comprehensive income $      12,485,921 $      11,266,155



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY BANK
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years ended December 31,

Shares 
Common 

Stock 

Additional 
Paid-In 
Ca(lital 

Retained 
Earnings 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss Total 

Balance at December 31 , 2017 2,422,924 $ 24,11 5,128 $ 11,635,536 $ 21,966,055 $ (436,171) $ 57,280,548 

Net income 11,380,086 11,380,086 

Other comprehensive loss (113,931 ) (113,931) 

Cash dividends declared ($0.275 per share) (669,846) (669,846) 

Stock-based compensation 448,109 448,109 

Exercise of stock options 17,445 198,036 198,036 

Restricted stock awards granted 8,225 

Amortization of minimum pension 
liabil ity adj. split dollar liabi lity (341 ,199) 341,199 

Balance at December 31 , 2018 2,448,594 $ 24,313,164 $ 12,083,645 $ 32 ,335,096 $ (208,903) $ 68,523,002 

Net income 12,275,250 12,275,250 

Other comprehensive income 210,671 210,671 

Stock issued for acquisition 1,394,443 70,424,788 70,424,788 

Cash dividends declared ($0.30 per share) (839,357) (839,357) 

Stock-based compensation 474,449 474,449 

Exercise of stock options 5,904 96,236 96,236 

Restricted Stock awards granted 900 

Cumu lative Effect of Right of Use Asset (66,671) (66,671) 

Balance at December 31 , 2019 3,849,841 $ 94,834,188 $ 12,558,094 $ 43,704,318 $ 1,768 $ 151,098,368 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY BANK
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31,
Cash flows from operating activities 2019 2018 

Net income $ 12,275,250 $ 11 ,380 ,086 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities : 

Provision for loan losses 450,000 687 ,500 

Depreciation and amortization of premises and equipment 609,992 395 ,873 

Amortization of core deposit intangible 138,000 

Net amortization of securities 329,498 471,153 

Net amortization (acc retion) of loans (574,202) (473 ,651) 

Deferred income tax benefit (225,053) (119,944) 

Net gain on sale of loans (782,418) (722 ,493) 

Stock-based compensation expense 474,449 448,109 

Earn ings on bank owned life insurance (283,975) (195 ,867) 

Originations of loans held for sale (25,39 1,714) (24,508 ,376) 

Proceeds from loans held for sale 11 ,641,182 10,907 ,089 

Net loss on sale/disposal of assets 1,773 12,665 

(Reversal of) provision for unfunded loan commitments (9,614) 42 ,832 

Non cash lease expense 47,854 

Deferred benefit expense 368,599 494 ,134 

Increase in deferred loan fees, net of costs 33 1,051 58 ,653 

Increase in accrued interest receivable (822,276) (296 ,628) 

Decrease in other assets 3,059,741 222,594 

Increase in accrued interest payable 35,360 50 ,449 

Decrease in other liabilities (512,530) (947 ,281) 

Net cash from operating activities 1,160,967 (2,093,103) 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Net cash and cash equivalents acquired in acquisition 55,286,309 

Net change in Interest-bearing deposits in other financial institutions (20,981 ,000) (6,677 ,000) 

Available for sale secu rities: 

Sales 12,363,815 

Maturities, prepayments and cal ls 13,200,000 3,000,000 

Purchases (43,606,520) (11 ,885 ,543) 

Principal repayments on securities available for sale 4,242,657 586 ,506 

Held to maturity secu rities: 

Maturities, prepayments and cal ls 3,615,000 5,015,000 

Principal repayments on securities held to matu rity 2,733,685 1,732 ,607 

Loan orig inations and payments, net (29,85 1,578) (20,386 ,496) 

Purchases of premises and equ ipment (435,873) (2,746 ,329) 

Purchase of bank owned life insurance (2,250,000) 

Purchases of Federal Home Loan Ban k stock (155,800) (63 ,600) 

Proceeds from sale of assets 1,250 

Net cash from investing activities (3,589,305) (33,673 ,605) 

Cash flows from financing activit ies 

Increase in deposits 36,279,698 21 ,466 ,862 

Cash dividends paid (839,357) (669 ,846) 

Proceeds from exercise of stock options, including tax benefit 96,236 198 ,036 

Net cash from fi nancing activities 35,536,577 20,995,052 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 33,108,239 (14,771,656) 

Beginning cash and cash equ iva lents 16,922,483 31 ,694 ,139 

Ending cash and cash equ ivalen ts $ 50,030,722 $ 16,922,483 

Supplemental cash flow information 
Interest paid $ 2,152,236 $ 1,282,940 

Income taxes paid $ 6,400,000 $ 4,650 ,000 

Supplemental noncash d isclosures 
Transfer from loans held for sale to portfol io loans $ 8,026,849 $ 13,337 ,433 

Common stock issued in acquisit ion $ 70,424,788 $ 
Operating lease right of use assets recogn ized $ 4,836,176 $ 
Operating lease liabi lities recognized $ 4,903,172 $ 



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY BANK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY BANK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations: Santa Cruz County Bank, referred to as “the Bank”, is a California state chartered 
bank which offers a full range of commercial and personal banking services to residents and businesses 
in Santa Cruz County and contiguous counties, through its seven full service offices located in Aptos, 
Capitola, Cupertino, Santa Cruz, Scotts Valley, and Watsonville. The Bank was incorporated on Sep-
tember 10, 2003 as Santa Cruz County Bank (In Organization) and commenced banking operations on 
February 3, 2004 (Inception), upon receipt of final regulatory approval. The Bank is subject to regulations 
and undergoes periodic examinations by the California Department of Business Oversight (“CDBO”) and 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). The Bank’s deposits are insured by the FDIC up to 
applicable legal limits. 

The majority of the Bank’s business is conducted with customers located in Santa Cruz County and ad-
jacent counties. Its primary deposit products are checking, savings, and term certificate accounts, and 
its primary lending products are commercial, multi-family, agriculture, loans supported by single-family 
residential real estate, municipal loans, government guaranteed loans, and installment loans. Substan-
tially all loans are secured by specific items of collateral including business assets, consumer assets, 
and commercial and residential real estate. Bank products are also supported by various government 
guarantee programs. Commercial loans are expected to be repaid from cash flow from operations of 
businesses. There are no significant concentrations of loans to any one industry or customer. However, 
the customers’ ability to repay their loans is dependent on the real estate and general economic condi-
tions in the area. 

Subsequent Events: The Bank has evaluated subsequent events for recognition and disclosure from 
December 31, 2019 through March 17, 2020, which is the date the financial statements were available 
to be issued.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions based on available 
information. These estimates and assumptions affect the amounts reported in the financial statements 
and the disclosures provided, and actual results could differ. 

Cash Flows: For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash, deposits 
with other financial institutions with maturities fewer than 90 days, and federal funds sold. Federal funds 
are sold for a one day period and are highly liquid investments. Net cash flows are reported for customer 
loan and deposit transactions, interest-bearing deposits in other financial institutions, and federal funds 
purchased.

Interest-Bearing Deposits in Other Financial Institutions: Interestbearing deposits in other financial 
institutions mature within three years and are carried at cost.

Investment Securities: Debt securities are classified as held to maturity and carried at amortized cost 
when management has the positive intent and ability to hold them to maturity. Debt securities are clas-
sified as available for sale when they might be sold before maturity. Securities available for sale are car-
ried at fair value with unrealized holding gains and losses reported in other comprehensive income, net 
of tax. At the time of purchase, the Bank designates securities as either held to maturity or available for 
sale based on its investment objectives, operational needs, and intent. 

Interest income includes amortization of purchase premium or discount. Premiums and discounts on se-

curities are amortized on the level-yield method without anticipating prepayments, except for mortgage 
backed securities where prepayments are anticipated. Gains and losses on sales are recorded on the 
settlement date and determined using the specific identification method. 

Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impairment (“OTTI”) on at least a quarterly 
basis and more frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such an evaluation. For securi-
ties in an unrealized loss position, management considers the magnitude and duration of the unrealized 
loss, and the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer. Management also assesses 
the intent and ability of the Bank to retain its investment in the securities for a period of time sufficient 
to allow for an anticipated recovery in fair value. If either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement 
to sell is met, the entire difference between amortized cost and fair value is recognized as impairment 
through earnings. For debt securities that do not meet the aforementioned criteria, the amount of impair-
ment is split into two components as follows: 1) OTTI related to credit loss, which must be recognized 
in the income statement and 2) other-than-temporary impairment (OTTI) related to other factors, which 
is recognized in other comprehensive income. The credit loss is defined as the difference between the 
present value of the cash flows expected to be collected and the amortized cost basis. 

Loans Held for Sale: Loans originated and intended for sale in the secondary market are carried at the 
lower of aggregate cost or fair value. Net unrealized losses, if any, are recorded as a valuation allowance 
and charged to earnings.

Loans held for sale are generally sold with servicing rights retained. The carrying value of loans sold is 
reduced by the amount allocated to the servicing right. If the loans are sold with servicing retained, the 
fair value of the servicing asset or liability is recorded on the balance sheet. Gains and losses on the 
sold portion of the loans are recognized at the time of sale based on the difference between the sale 
proceeds and the carrying value of the related loans sold. 

Loans Receivable: Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future 
or until maturity or payoff are reported at the amount of unpaid principal balances outstanding, net of 
deferred loan fees and costs, and an allowance for loan losses. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid 
principal balance daily and credited to income as it is earned. When a loan pays off or is sold, any un-
amortized balance of any related premiums, discounts, loan origination fees, and direct loan origination 
costs is recognized in income. Loan origination fees, net of certain direct origination costs, are deferred 
and recognized in interest income over the expected life of the loan using a method that approximates 
the level yield method without anticipating prepayments. 

Interest income on loans is generally discontinued and placed on non-accrual status at the time the loan 
is 90 days delinquent or when management believes, after considering economic and business condi-
tions and collection efforts, that the borrower’s financial condition is such that collection of interest is 
doubtful unless the loan is well-secured and in the process of collection. Past-due status is based on 
the contractual terms of the loan. A loan is moved to non-accrual status in accordance with the Bank’s 
policy, typically after 90 days of non-payment. In all cases, loans are placed on non-accrual or charged-
off at an earlier date if collection of principal or interest is considered doubtful. Non-accrual loans and 
loans past due 90 days still on accrual include both smaller balance homogeneous loans that are col-
lectively evaluated for impairment and individually classified impaired loans.

When a loan is placed on non-accrual status, all interest previously accrued but not collected is reversed 
against current period interest income. Interest received on such loans is accounted for on the cash-
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basis method and recognized only to the extent that cash is received and where the future collection of 
principal is probable, until qualifying for return to accrual. Generally, loans will be restored to an accrual 
status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future 
payments are reasonably assured. 

Concentration of Credit Risk: Most of the Bank’s business activity is with customers located within 
Santa Cruz County. Therefore, the Bank’s exposure to credit risk is significantly affected by changes in 
the economy in the Santa Cruz County area.
Allowance for Loan Losses: The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance for probable credit 
losses in the Bank’s loan portfolio that have been incurred as of the balance sheet date. The allowance is 
established through a provision for loan losses, which is charged to expense. Additions to the allowance 
are expected to maintain the adequacy of the total allowance after credit losses and loan growth. Loan 
losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of a loan 
balance is confirmed. Cash received on previously charged-off amounts is recorded as a recovery to 
the allowance. Management estimates the allowance balance required using past loan loss experience, 
the nature and volume of the portfolio, information about specific borrower situations and estimated 
collateral values, economic conditions, and other factors. Allocations of the allowance may be made for 
specific loans, but the entire allowance is available for any loan that, in management’s judgment, should 
be charged-off.

The allowance consists of specific and general components. The specific component relates to loans 
that are individually classified as impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable 
that the Bank will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan 
agreement. Generally, the Bank identifies loans to be reported as impaired when such loans are in non-
accrual status or classified in part or in whole as either doubtful or loss. Loans for which the terms have 
been modified resulting in a concession, and for which the borrower is experiencing financial difficulties, 
are considered troubled debt restructurings (TDRs) and classified as impaired.

Factors considered by management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral 
value, and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Loans that 
experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired. 
Management determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-by-
case basis, taking into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, 
including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower’s prior payment record, and the 
amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed. 

Commercial and commercial real estate loans over $100,000 are individually evaluated for impairment. 
Typically, loans below $100,000 from all class types are excluded from individual impairment analysis. 
When a loan is impaired, a portion of the allowance is allocated so that the loan is reported, net, at 
the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, except 
that as a practical expedient, it may measure impairment based on a loan’s observable market price, 
or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. A loan is collateral dependent if the 
repayment of the loan is expected to be provided solely by the underlying collateral. 

A restructuring of a debt constitutes a troubled debt restructuring (TDR) if the Bank, for economic 
or legal reasons related to the debtor’s financial difficulties, grants a concession to the debtor that it 
would not otherwise consider. Restructured workout loans typically present an elevated level of credit 
risk as the borrowers are not able to perform according to the original contractual terms. Troubled 

debt restructurings are individually evaluated for impairment and included in the separately identified 
impairment disclosures. TDRs are measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows 
using the loan’s effective rate at inception. If a TDR is considered to be a collateral dependent loan, 
the loan is reported, net, at the fair value of the collateral less estimated costs to sell. For TDRs that 
subsequently default, the Bank determines the amount of the allowance on that loan in accordance with 
the accounting policy for the allowance for loan losses on loans individually identified as impaired. The 
Bank incorporates recent historical experience related to TDRs including the performance of TDRs that 
subsequently default into the calculation of the allowance by loan portfolio segment.

The general reserve component covers loans that are collectively evaluated for impairment. Large 
groups of smaller balance homogeneous loans, such as consumer and residential real estate loans, are 
collectively evaluated for impairment, and accordingly, they are not separately identified for impairment 
disclosures. The general allowance component also includes loans that are not individually identified 
for impairment evaluation, such as commercial loans below the individual evaluation threshold, as well 
as those loans that are individually evaluated but are not considered impaired. The determination of the 
general reserve is based on estimates made by management, to include, but not limited to, consideration 
of historical loss experience adjusted for current factors. The historical loss experience is determined by 
portfolio segment and is based on considerations of both the Bank’s actual historical loss history and 
losses of the peer group in which the Bank operates over the most recent 12 years. This is supplemented 
with other economic factors based on the risks present for each portfolio segment and internal asset 
classifications. These qualitative factors include economic trends in the Bank’s service areas, industry 
experience and trends, geographic concentrations, estimated collateral values, the Bank’s underwriting 
policies, the character of the loan portfolio, and probable losses inherent in the portfolio taken as a 
whole.  

The Bank maintains a separate allowance for each portfolio segment (loan type). These portfolio seg-
ments include commercial real estate, land and construction, commercial and industrial, agricultural 
land, real estate and production, and consumer loans (principally home equity loans). Portfolio classes 
are not distinguished from segments for reporting purposes. The allowance for loan losses attributable 
to each portfolio segment, which includes both impaired loans and loans that are not impaired, is com-
bined to determine the Bank›s overall allowance, hence, is included on the balance sheet.

The general reserve component of the allowance for loan losses also consists of reserve factors that are 
based on management›s assessment of the following for each portfolio segment: (1) inherent credit risk, 
(2) historical losses, and (3) other qualitative factors. These reserve factors are inherently subjective and
are driven by the repayment risk associated with each portfolio segment described below.

Commercial real estate – Commercial real estate mortgage loans generally possess a higher in-
herent risk of loss than other real estate portfolio segments, except land and construction loans. 
Adverse economic developments or an overbuilt market impact commercial real estate projects and 
may result in troubled loans. Trends in vacancy rates of commercial properties impact the credit 
quality of these loans. High vacancy rates reduce operating revenues and the ability for properties 
to produce sufficient cash flow to service debt obligations.

Land and construction – Land and construction loans generally possess a higher inherent risk of 
loss than other real estate portfolio segments. A major risk arises from the necessity to complete 
projects within specified cost and timelines. Trends in the construction industry significantly impact 
the credit quality of these loans, as demand drives construction activity. In addition, trends in real 
estate values significantly impact the credit quality of these loans, as property values determine the 
economic viability of construction projects.
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Commercial and industrial – Commercial and industrial loans generally possess a lower inherent 
risk of loss than real estate portfolio segments because these loans are generally underwritten to 
existing cash flows of operating businesses. Debt coverage is provided by business cash flows and 
economic trends influenced by unemployment rates and other key economic indicators are closely 
correlated to the credit quality of these loans.

Agricultural land, real estate and production – Agricultural real estate mortgage loans generally 
possess a lower inherent risk of loss than other real estate portfolio segments, including land and 
construction loans. Adverse economic developments may result in troubled loans. Loans secured 
by crop production and livestock are especially vulnerable to two risk factors that are largely outside 
the control of Bank and borrowers: commodity prices and weather conditions.

Consumer – Comprised of single-family residential real estate, home equity lines of credit and per-
sonal lines. The degree of risk in residential real estate lending depends primarily on the loan amount 
in relation to collateral value, the interest rate and the borrower’s ability to repay in an orderly fashion. 
These loans generally possess a lower inherent risk of loss than other real estate portfolio segments. 
Economic trends determined by unemployment rates and other key economic indicators are closely 
correlated to the credit quality of these loans. Weak economic trends indicate that the borrowers’ 
capacity to repay their obligations may be deteriorating.

Although management believes the allowance to be adequate, ultimate losses may vary from its es-
timates. At least quarterly, the Board of Directors reviews the adequacy of the allowance, including 
consideration of the relative risks in the portfolio, current economic conditions and other factors. If the 
Board of Directors and management determine that changes are warranted based on those reviews, the 
allowance is adjusted. In addition, the Bank’s primary regulators, FDIC and CDBO, as an integral part 
of their examination process, review the adequacy of the allowance. These regulatory agencies may 
require additions to the allowance based on their judgment about information available at the time of 
their examinations.

Allowance for Credit Losses on Off-Balance Sheet Credit Exposures: The Bank maintains a separate al-
lowance for off-balance sheet commitments. Management estimates anticipated losses using historical 
data and utilization assumptions. The allowance for off-balance sheet commitments totaled $345,600 
at December 31, 2019 and $176,914 at December 31, 2018, and is included in other liabilities on the 
balance sheet.

Federal Home Loan Bank Stock: The Bank, as a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) 
system, is required to maintain an investment in the capital stock of the FHLB of San Francisco based 
on the level of borrowings and other factors, and may invest in additional amounts based on the level 
of borrowings and other factors, and may invest in additional amounts based on the level of borrowings 
and other factors, and may invest in additional amounts based on the level of borrowings and other 
factors, and may invest in additional amounts based on the level of borrowings and other factors, and 
may invest in additional amounts based on the level of borrowings and other factors, and may invest 
in additional amounts based on the level of borrowings and other factors, and may invest in additional 
amounts. FHLB stock is carried at cost, classified as a restricted security, and periodically evaluated for 
impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value.   classified as restricted security, and periodically 
evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par valueclassified as a restricted security, and 
periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value.  classified as a restricted 
security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value.. Both cash 
and stock dividends, if any, are reported as income. The FHLB stock is redeemable at its par value of 
$100 per share at the discretion of the FHLB of San Francisco. The FHLB can suspend dividends and 
redemptions upon notification to its members. 
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Bankers Bank Stock: Pacific Coast Bankers Bank (“PCBB”) stock and The Independent Bankers Bank 
(“TIB”) are carried at cost, classified as a restricted security, and periodically evaluated for impairment 
based on ultimate recovery of par value.   classified as restricted securities, and periodically evaluated 
for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par valueclassified as a restricted security, and periodically 
evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value.  classified as a restricted security, 
and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value.. Both cash and stock 
dividends, if any, are reported as income.

On January 1, 2018, the Bank adopted a new accounting standard for Financial Instruments (ASU 2016-
01), which requires equity investments (except those accounted for under the equity method of account-
ing or those that result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognized in net income. Upon adoption, the amendments related to equity securities without 
readily determinable fair values (including disclosure requirements) are being applied prospectively to 
equity investments that existed at January 1, 2018. Equity securities without readily determinable fair 
values are carried at cost, minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from observable 
price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment. The carrying amount of 
equity securities without readily determinable fair values was $456,215 and $170,000 as of December 
31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. 
Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) Stock:  The Bank is a member of the FHLB system.  Members are required to 
own a certain amount of stock based on the level of borrowings and other factors, and may invest in additional 
amounts.  FHLB stock is carried at cost, classified as a restricted security, and periodically evaluated for impair-
ment based on ultimate recovery of par value.  Both cash and stock dividends are reported as income. 
Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) Stock:  The Bank is a member of the FHLB system.  Members are 
required to own a certain amount of stock based on the level of borrowings and other factors, and 
may invest in additional amounts.  FHLB stock is carried at cost, classified as a restricted security, and 
periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value.  Both cash and stock 
dividends are reported as income. 
member of the FHLB system.  Members are required to own a certain amount of stock based on the 
level of borrowings and other factors, and may invest in additional amounts.  FHLB stock is carried at 
cost, classified as a restricted security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate re-
covery of par value.  Both cash and stock dividends are reported as income. 
member of the FHLB system.  Members are required to own a certain amount of stock based on the 
level of borrowings and other factors, and may invest in additional amounts.  FHLB stock is carried at 
cost, classified as a restricted security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate re-
covery of par value.  Both cash and stock dividends are reported as income. 

Loan Servicing Rights: When loans are sold with servicing retained, servicing rights are initially recorded 
at fair value with the income statement effect recorded in gains on sales of loans. Fair value is based 
on market prices for comparable loan servicing contracts, when available or alternatively, is based on a 
valuation model that calculates the present value of estimated future net servicing income. All classes 
of servicing assets are subsequently measured using the amortization method, which requires servicing 
rights to be amortized into noninterest income in proportion to, and over the period of, the estimated 
future net servicing income of the underlying loans. Loan servicing rights were $529,270 and $591,828 
at year-end 2019 and 2018 and were included in other assets on the balance sheets.

Servicing rights are evaluated for impairment based upon the fair value of the rights as compared to 
carrying amount. Impairment is determined by stratifying rights into groupings based on predominant 
risk characteristics, such as interest rate, loan type and investor type. Impairment is recognized through 
a valuation allowance for an individual grouping, to the extent that fair value is less than the carrying 
amount. If the Bank later determines that all or a portion of the impairment no longer exists for a par-
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ticular grouping, a reduction of the allowance may be recorded as an increase to income. Changes in 
valuation allowances are reported with loan servicing fees income on the income statement. The fair 
values of servicing rights are subject to significant fluctuations as a result of changes in estimated and 
actual prepayment speeds and default rates and losses.

Servicing fee income, which is reported on the income statement as loan servicing fees, is recorded for 
fees earned on servicing loans. The fees are based on a fixed amount per loan and recorded as income 
when earned. The amortization of servicing rights is netted against loan servicing fee income. Servicing 
fees totaled $612,460 and $652,004 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
Late fees and ancillary fees related to loan servicing are not material. 

Bank Premises and Equipment: Land is carried at cost. Bank premises and equipment are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is determined using the straight-line method of over the 
estimated useful lives of the related asset. The Bank’s building and related components are depreciated 
over 39½ years. Furniture, fixtures and equipment are depreciated with useful lives ranging from 5 to 7 
years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets 
or the initial term of the respective leases. The useful lives of leasehold improvements are estimated to 
be 3 to 15 years. When assets are sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated de-
preciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in income for the 
period. All other maintenance and repair expenditures are charged to expense as incurred.

Bank Owned Life Insurance: The Bank has purchased life insurance policies on certain key executives. 
Bank owned life insurance is recorded at the amount that can be realized under the insurance contract 
at the balance sheet date, which is the cash surrender value adjusted for other charges or other amounts 
due that are probable at settlement.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets: Goodwill arises from business combinations and is generally determined 
as the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred, plus the fair value of any noncontrolling 
interests in the acquiree, over the fair value of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the 
acquisition date. The Bank accounted for the acquisitions of Lighthouse Bank using the acquisition 
method of accounting. Under the acquisition method, assets and liabilities assumed are recorded at 
their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. Management utilizes various valuation techniques 
to determine these fair values. Any excess of the purchase price over amounts allocated to the acquired 
assets, including identifiable intangible assets, and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill.

Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a purchase business combination and determined to have 
an indefinite useful life are not amortized, but tested for impairment at least annually or more frequently 
if events and circumstances exists that indicate that a goodwill impairment test should be performed. 
The Bank has selected September 30 as the date to perform the annual impairment test. Goodwill is the 
only intangible asset with an indefinite life on our balance sheet. 

The intangible assets at December 31, 2019 represent the estimated fair value of the core deposit re-
lationships acquired in the business combination with Lighthouse Bank. Core deposit intangibles are 
being amortized using an accelerated basis based on dollar weighted deposit runoff on an annualized 
basis over an estimated life of ten years from the date of acquisition.

Loan Commitments and Related Financial Instruments: Financial instruments include offbalance sheet 
credit instruments, such as commitments to make loans and commercial letters of credit, issued to meet 
customer financing needs. The face amount for these items represents the exposure to loss, before 
considering customer collateral or ability to repay. Such financial instruments are recorded when they 
are funded. 
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Stock-Based Compensation: Compensation cost is recognized for stock options and restricted stock 
awards issued to employees and directors, based on the fair value of these awards at the date of grant. 
The Bank estimates the fair value of each stock option award as of the date of grant using a Black-
Scholes-Merton model, while the market price of the Bank’s common stock at the date of grant is used 
for restricted stock awards. 

Compensation cost is recognized over the required service period, generally defined as the vesting pe-
riod. For awards with graded vesting, compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
requisite service period for the entire award. The Bank’s accounting policy is to recognize forfeitures as 
they occur.

Income Taxes: Income tax expense is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the 
change in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are computed using the asset and liability 
method, which represents the tax effects for the temporary differences between carrying amounts and 
tax bases of assets and liabilities, based on current tax law, of future deductible or taxable amounts 
attributable to events that have been recognized in the financial statements. A valuation allowance is 
established to reduce the deferred tax asset to the level at which it is “more likely than not” that the tax 
asset or benefits will be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated by applying current 
enacted tax rates against future deductible or taxable amounts. Realization of tax benefits of deductible 
temporary differences and operating loss carry forwards depends on having sufficient taxable income 
of an appropriate character within the carry forward periods. 

The Bank uses a comprehensive model for recognizing, measuring, presenting and disclosing in the 
financial statements tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. A tax position is rec-
ognized as a benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax position would be sustained in a tax 
examination, with a tax examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest 
amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions 
not meeting the “more likely than not” test, no tax benefit is recorded.

The Bank recognizes interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.

Retirement Plans: Pension expense is the net of service and interest cost, return on plan assets and 
amortization of gains and losses not immediately recognized. Employee 401(k) plan expense is the 
amount of employer matching contributions. Deferred compensation and supplemental retirement plan 
expense allocates the benefits over years of service.

Earnings Per Common Share: Basic earnings per common share are calculated by dividing net income 
by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per 
common share includes the dilutive effect of additional potential common shares issuable under stock 
options. There is no adjustment to the number of outstanding shares for potential dilutive instruments, 
such as stock options, when a loss occurs because the conversion of potential common stock is anti-
dilutive or when stock options are not in-the-money. Earnings per share are restated for all stock splits 
and stock dividends through the date of issuance of the financial statements. 
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Comprehensive Income: Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive in­
come. Other comprehensive income includes the adjustment to fully recognize the liability associated 
with the supplemental executive retirement plan and unrealized gains and losses on securities available 
for sale, which are also recognized as separate components of equity. 

Loss Contingencies: Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course 
of business, are recorded as liabilities when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of 
loss can be reasonably estimated. Management does not believe there now are such matters that will 
have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Restrictions on Cash and Due from Banks: The Bank is subject to Federal Reserve Act Regulation D, 
which requires banks to maintain average reserve balances with the Federal Reserve Bank. Reserve re­
quirements are offset by usable cash reserves. The amount of such reserve balance requirement to meet 
regulatory reserve and clearing requirements at December 31, 2019 was $1,800,000. 

Dividend Restriction: Banking regulations require maintaining certain capital levels and may limit the 
dividends paid by the Bank to shareholders. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: The Bank's estimated fair value amounts have been determined by 
the Bank using relevant market information and other assumptions, as more fully disclosed in a separate 
note. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment regarding interest 
rates, credit risk, prepayments, and other factors, especially in the absence of broad markets for par­
ticular items. Changes in assumptions or in market conditions could significantly affect these estimates. 

Reclassifications: Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial state­
ments to conform to the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no impact on 
prior year Bank's net income or shareholders' equity. 

ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

The following are descriptions of recently adopted accounting standards: 

ASU 2016-02. Leases ([opic 842): 
In February 2016, the FASS amended existing guidance that requires lessees to recognize the following 
for all leases (with the exception of short-term leases) at the commencement date (1) A lease liability, 
which is a lessee's obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted 
basis; and (2) A right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee's right to use, or control 
the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. Under the new guidance, lessor accounting is largely 
unchanged. Certain targeted improvements were made to align, where necessary, lessor accounting 
with the lessee accounting model and Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The new 
guidance also requires enhanced disclosure about an entity's leasing arrangements. 

On January 1, 2019, the Bank adopted ASU No. 2016-02 "Leases (Topic 842)" and subsequent amend­
ments thereto, which requires the Bank to recognize most leases on the balance sheet. The Bank ad­
opted the standard under the modified retrospective approach as of the date of adoption and elected to 
apply several of the available expedients, including: 
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• Carryover of historical lease determination and lease classification conclusion 

• Carryover of historical initial direct cost balances for existing leases 

• Accounting for lease and non-lease components in contracts in which the Bank 
is a lessee as a single lease component 

Adoption of the leasing standard resulted in the recognition of operating right-of-use assets of 
$4,836,176, operating lease liabilities of $4,903,172 and a cumulative effect decrease to retained earn­
ings of $66,671 as of January 1, 2019. These amounts were determined based on the present value of 
remaining minimum lease payments, discounted using the Bank's incremental borrowing rate as of the 
date of adoption. There was no material impact to the timing of expense or income recognition in the 
Bank's Income Statements. Prior periods were not restated and continue to be presented under legacy 
GAAP Disclosures about the Bank's leasing activities are presented in Note 7 - Leases. 

NEWLY ISSUED NOT EFFECTIVE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments- Credit Losses (Topic 326): 
In June 2016, FASS issued guidance to replace the incurred loss model with an expected loss model, 
which is referred to as the current expected credit loss (CECL) model. The CECL model is applicable 
to the measurement of credit losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost, including loan re­
ceivables and held to maturity debt securities. It also applies to off-balance sheet credit exposures not 
accounted for as insurance (loan commitments, standby letters of credit, financial guarantees, and other 
similar instruments) and net investments in certain cases recognized by a lessor. In addition, the amend­
ments in this update require credit losses be presented as an allowance rather than as a write-down on 
available for sale debt securities. For the Bank, the standard will be effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 31 , 2022, including interim periods in those fiscal years. 

For debt securities with other than temporary impairment (OTTI), the guidance will be applied prospec­
tively. For all other assets within the scope of CECL, a cumulative effect adjustment will be recognized 
in retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. 
The Bank is currently assessing data and system needs in order to evaluate the impact of adopting the 
new guidance. Management expects to recognize a one-time cumulative effect adjustment to the allow­
ance for loan losses as of the first reporting period in which the new standard is effective, but cannot 
yet estimate the magnitude of the one-time adjustment or the overall impact of the new guidance on the 
Bank's financial position, results of operation, or cash flows. 

NOTE 2. BUSINESS COMBINATION 

On October 18, 2019, the Bank completed the acquisition of Lighthouse Bank ("LHB") for an aggregate 
transaction value of $70,424,788. LHB was merged into the Bank and the Bank issued 1,394,443 shares 
of common stock to the former shareholders of LHB. Under the terms of the acquisition, LHB common 
shareholders received 0.5204 of a share of the Bank's common stock in exchange for each share of LHB 
common stock. With the LHB acquisition, the Bank added two full service branches located in Santa 
Cruz and Cupertino. LHB's assets as of October 18, 201 9 totaled $325,547,624. The fair value of the 
common shares issued as part of the consideration paid for LHB was determined in the basis of the 
c losing price of the Bank's common shares on the acquisition date. 
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In accordance with GAAP guidance for business combinations, the Bank recorded $25,761,654 of 
goodwill and $3,707,000 of core deposit intangible assets on the acquisition date. The core deposit 
intangibles are being amortized using an accelerated basis method over a period of ten years with no 
significant residual value. For tax purposes, purchase accounting adjustments including goodwill are all 
non-taxable and/or non-deductible. Acquisition related costs of $3,341,558 are included in Noninterest 
Expense in the Bank’s income statement for the year ended December 31, 2019.

The acquisition was consistent with the Bank’s strategy to expand the scale of our geographic footprint. 
The acquisition allows the Bank to deliver enhanced banking and lending services to our valued custom-
ers, added resources for our community and even greater efficiencies for the benefit of our sharehold-
ers. Goodwill arising from the acquisition consisted largely of synergies and the expected cost savings 
resulting from the combined operations.

The following table summarizes the consideration paid for LHB and the amounts of the assets and li-
abilities assumed recognized at the acquisition date:

Merger consideration:

Common stock issued $ 70,424,788 

Fair value of total consideration transferred $ 70,424,788 

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

  Cash and cash equivalents
Interest-bearing deposits in other financial institutions
Debt securities available for sale
Bankers’ Bank stock
Loans, net
Premises and equipment
Core deposit intangibles
Deferred taxes and taxes receivable
Bank owned life insurance
Other assets
     Total assets acquired

  

 $  55,286,309 
       19,600,000 
       12,363,815 
         1,370,815 
     222,751,515 
         4,727,595 
         3,707,000 

41,265 
         4,972,759 
         4,913,166 
     329,734,239 

Deposits $283,587,359
Deposit Premium             355,156 
Other liabilities
   Total liabilities assumed

         1,128,590 
     285,071,105 

      Total identifiable net assets
Goodwill

       44,663,134 
 $  25,761,654 

The fair value of net assets acquired includes fair value adjustments to certain loans that were not 
considered impaired as of the acquisition date. The fair value adjustments were determined using dis-
counted contractual cash flows. However, the Bank believes that all contractual cash flows related to 
these financial instruments will be collected. As such, those loans were not considered impaired at 
the acquisition date and were not subject to the guidance relating to purchased credit impaired (PCI) 
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loans, which have shown evidence of credit deterioration since origination. Loans acquired that were 
not subject to PCI requirements include non-impaired loans and customer receivables with a fair value 
and gross contractual amounts receivable of $222,751,515 and $226,502,607 respectively, on the date 
of acquisition. 

The Bank decreased the fair value of premises and equipment by $78,111 with a corresponding increase 
to goodwill due to the receipt of an updated appraisal and disposal of assets with no value at the date 
of acquisition. 

NOTE 3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

The following tables summarize the amortized cost and fair value of securities available for sale and 
held to maturity at December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the corresponding amounts of gross unrealized 
gains and losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and gross unrecog-
nized gains and losses: 

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated 

December 31, 2019
Available for sale:

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

U.S. treasury bonds $      8, 026,415 $           10, 353 $ ( 668) $      8, 036,100
U.S. government sponsored agencies         5, 008,147 925             ( 11,022)         4, 998,050
Mortgage backed securities: residential         3, 441,152 7, 642             ( 21,714)         3, 427,080
Collateralized mortgage obligations       31, 471,869              42, 080           ( 217,615)       31, 296,334
State and political subdivision         4, 652,976 7, 870             ( 73,514)         4, 587,332
Corporate
   Total available for sale $    

- - - - 
52, 600,559 $           68, 870 $        ( 324,533) $    52, 344,896

Held to maturity:
U.S. government sponsored agencies $         988, 636 $           11, 934 $ - $      1, 000,570
Mortgage backed securities: residential         1, 472,993              35, 932 ( 85) 1, 508,840
Collateralized mortgage obligations         6, 629,432              70, 647 ( 57) 6, 700,022
State and political subdivision
   Total held to maturity

        
$    

5, 987,616
15, 078,677

           
$         

247, 314
365, 827

-         
$    

6, 234,930
15, 444,362$ ( 142)

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated 

December 31, 2018
Available for sale:

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

U.S. treasury bonds $      9, 919,796 $ 572 $          ( 14,188) $      9, 906,180
U.S. government sponsored agencies         7, 018,440 - ( 103,080)         6, 915,360
Collateralized mortgage obligations         8, 765,446 - ( 112,312)         8, 653,134
State and political subdivision            698, 882 832 ( 2,472)            697, 242
Corporate
   Total available for sale

           
$    

100, 490
26, 503,054

- ( 356)            
$    

100, 134
26, 272,050$             1, 404 $        ( 232,408)

Held to maturity:
U.S. government sponsored agencies $         979, 433 $ - $            ( 1,453) $         977, 980
Mortgage backed securities: residential         2, 182,352 2, 345             ( 13,121)         2, 171,576
Collateralized mortgage obligations         8, 811,265              21, 891             ( 30,369)         8, 802,787
State and political subdivision
   Total held to maturity

        
$    

9, 639,835
21, 612,885

           
$         

201, 933
226, 169

-         
$    

9, 841,768
21, 794,111$          ( 44,943)
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There were no transfers between available for sale and held to maturity during 2019 or 2018.

The proceeds from sales and calls of investment securities and the associated gains and losses during 
2019 and 2018 are listed below:

2019 2018
Proceeds
Gains

$    16,815,000 
- 

$      8,015,000 
- 

Losses - - 

The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities are shown by contractual maturity. Expected maturi-
ties may differ from contractual maturities if borrowers have the right to call or prepay obligations with or 
without call or prepayment penalties. Securities not due at a single maturity date are shown separately.

December 31, 2019
Amortized Estimated 

Available for sale:
Cost Fair Value

     Within one year $     11,016,326 $     11,015,950
     One to five years          2,605,855          2,613,689
     Five to ten years             582,285             574,333
     Beyond ten years          3,483,072          3,417,510
     Mortgage backed securities          3,441,152          3,427,080
     Collateralized mortgage obligations        31,471,869        31,296,334
Total $     52,600,559 $     52,344,896

Held to maturity:
     Within one year $          655,200 $          659,074
     One to five years          3,983,454          4,045,540
     Five to ten years          2,026,383          2,143,356
     Beyond ten years             311,215             387,530
     Mortgage backed securities          1,472,993          1,508,840
     Collateralized mortgage obligations          6,629,432          6,700,022
Total $     15,078,677 $     15,444,362

Investment securities pledged at year-end 2019 and 2018 had a carrying amount of $25,141,000 and 
$22,651,000, respectively, and were pledged to secure public deposits. 

At year-end 2019 and 2018, there were no holdings of securities of any one issuer, other than the U.S. 
Government and its agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of shareholders’ equity.

The following table summarizes investment securities with unrealized and unrecognized losses at De-
cember 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, aggregated by major security type and length of time in a 
continuous unrealized or unrecognized loss position:
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December 31, 2019 Less than 12 months
Unrealized

12 months or more
Unrealized

Total
Unrealized

Available for sale: Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
U.S. treasury bonds $  4,032,500 $  (668) $  - $ - $       4,032,500 $             (668) 
U.S. government sponsored agencies 3,346,941             (22,094)         1,996,180           (10,642)         5,343,121           (32,736) 
Collateralized mortgage obligations 25,573,902           (209,933)         1,553,896             (7,682)       27,127,798         (217,615) 
State and political subdivision
   Total available for sale $            

3,991,843             (73,514) 
 36,945,186 $         (306,209) $      

- - 
 3,550,076 $        (18,324) 

        
$    

3,991,843           (73,514) 
 40,495,262 $      (324,533) 

Held to maturity:
Mortgage backed securities: residential $ - $  - $            20,664 $ (85) $            20,664 $ (85) 
Collateralized mortgage obligations
   Total held to maturity $

51,466 
 51,466 $

(57) 
 (57) $           

- 
 20,664 $

- 
(85) 

             
$           

51,466 
 72,130 $             

(57) 
(142) 

December 31, 2018 Less than 12 months
Unrealized

12 months or more
Unrealized

Total
Unrealized

Available for sale: Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
U.S. treasury bonds $  7,914,920 $           (14,188) $  - $ - $       7,914,920 $        (14,188) 
U.S. government sponsored agencies 1,998,200 (1,540)         4,917,160         (101,540)         6,915,360         (103,080) 
Collateralized mortgage obligations 1,151,872             (14,714)         7,501,262           (97,598)         8,653,134         (112,312) 
State and political subdivision 231,506 (901) 250,696             (1,571)            482,202             (2,472) 
Corporate
   Total available for sale $            

- - 
 11,296,498 $           (31,343) $    

100,134 (356) 
 12,769,252 $      (201,065) 

           
$    

100,134 (356) 
 24,065,750 $      (232,408) 

Held to maturity:
U.S. government sponsored agencies $  977,980 $             (1,453) $  - $ - $          977,980 $          (1,453) 
Mortgage backed securities: residential 726,548 (3,127)            890,026             (9,994)         1,616,574 $        (13,121) 
Collateralized mortgage obligations
   Total held to maturity $

7,231,934 
 8,936,462

            
$          

(21,700) 
 (26,280)

           
$      

739,713 
 1,629,739

            
$        

(8,669) 
(18,663) 

        
$    

7,971,647 
 10,566,201

          
$        

(30,369) 
(44,943) 

Unrealized losses on corporate bonds have not been recognized into income because the issuers bonds 
are of high credit quality (rated AA or higher), management does not intend to sell and it is likely that 
management will not be required to sell the securities prior to their anticipated recovery, and the decline 
in fair value is largely due to changes in interest rates and other market conditions. The issuers continue 
to make timely principal and interest payments on the bonds. The fair value is expected to recover as 
the bonds approach maturity. 

As of December 31, 2019, the Bank’s security portfolio consisted of 97 investment securities, 31 of 
which were in an unrealized loss position. The majority of unrealized losses are related to the Bank’s 
collateralized mortgage obligations and U.S. government sponsored agencies as discussed below. 

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations:
At December 31, 2019, 100% of the collateralized mortgage obligations held by the Bank were issued 
by U.S. government or government-sponsored entities and agencies, primarily Fannie Mae and Freddie 
Mac, institutions which the government has affirmed its commitment to support. Because the decline 
in fair value is attributable to changes in interest rates and illiquidity, and not credit quality, and because 
the Bank does not have the intent to sell these mortgage backed securities and it is likely that it will not 
be required to sell the securities before their anticipated recovery, the Bank does not consider these 
securities to be other-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2019. The Bank’s mortgage backed 
securities portfolio does not include non-agency collateralized mortgage obligations.
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NOTE 4. LOANS RECEIVABLE
The outstanding loan portfolio balances at December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

2019 2018
Commercial and industrial $         159,978,860 $         108,598,861
Commercial real estate            402,560,300            238,325,291
Land and construction            100,693,621              59,265,255
Agricultural land, real estate and production              30,992,191              21,883,097
Consumer              40,050,565              40,538,002
Gross loans receivable            734,275,537            468,610,506

Net deferred loan fees  (560,284)  2,568,528
Allowance for loan losses             (10,296,230)               (9,836,731)

Loans receivable, net $         723,419,023 $         461,342,303

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, loans originated under Small Business Administration (SBA) pro-
grams totaled $23,800,497 and $19,202,395, respectively. Approximately $287,843,681 in loans were 
pledged under a blanket lien as collateral to the FHLB for the Bank’s remaining borrowing capacity of 
$145,763,272 as of December 31, 2019. The Bank’s credit limit varies according to the amount of com-
position of the investment and loan portfolios pledged as collateral. 

Salaries and employee benefits totaling $2,120,559 and $1,931,798 have been deferred as loan origina-
tion costs for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

The following table presents the activity in the allowance for loan losses by portfolio segment for each 
of the years ending December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

Agricultural 
Commercial Land, Real 

and Commercial Land and Estate and 
December 31 2019: Industrial Real Estate Construction Production Consumer Unallocated Total 

Allowance fo r loan losses: 

Beginn ing balance $ 2,853,397 $ 3,124,492 $ 3,388,867 $ 205,861 $ 226,745 $ 37,369 $ 9,836,731 

Provision for loan losses 198,007 (207,548) 243,465 90,222 23,187 102,667 450,000 

Loans charged-off 

Recoveries 9,499 9,499 

Total ending allowance ba lance $ 3,060,903 $ 2,916,944 $ 3,632,332 $ 296,083 $ 249,932 $ 140,036 $ 10,296,230 

Agricultural 
Commercial Land, Real 

and Commercial Land and Estate and 
December 31, 2018:
Allowance for loan losses:

Industrial Real Estate Construction Production Consumer Unallocated Total

Beginning balance $   2,218,227 $   3,288,312 $     3,260,709 $            170,854 $     227,450 $      (59,294) $   9,106,258
Provision for loan losses         593,698        (163,820)           128,158  35,007           (2,205)           96,663         687,501
Loans charged-off  - - - -  - -  -
Recoveries

Total ending allowance balance

          41,472

$   2,853,397

 -

$   3,124,492

- 

$     3,388,867 

- 1,500 

$      226,745

 -

$        37,369

         

$  

 42,972

 9,836,731$            205,861
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The following table presents the balance in the allowance for loan losses and the recorded investment 
in loans by portfolio segment and based on impairment method as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:  

Agricultural 
Land, Real 

Commercial Commercial Land and Estate and 
December 31 2019 and Industrial Real Estate Construction Production Consumer Unallocated Total 

Allowance for loan losses 

Ending allowance balance attributable to loans: 

Individually evaluated for impairment $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Collectively evaluated for impairment 3,060,903 2,916,944 3,632,332 296,083 249,932 140,036 10,296,230 

Total ending allowance balance $ 3,060,903 $ 2,916,944 $ 3,632,332 $ 296,083 $ 249,932 $ 140,036 $ 10,296,230 

Loans 

Loans individually eva luated for impairment $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Loans collectively evaluated fo r impairment 159,978,860 402,560,300 100,693,621 30,992,191 40,050,565 734,275,537 

Total ending loans balance $159,978,860 $402,560,300 $ 100,693,621 $ 30,992,191 $ 40,050,565 $ $ 734,275,537 

Agricultural 
Land, Real 

Commercial Commercial Land and Estate and 
December 31 2018: and Industrial Real Estate Construction Production Consumer Unallocated Total 

Allowance for loan losses 

Ending allowance balance attributable to loans: 

Individually evaluated for impairment $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Collectively evaluated for impairment 2,853,397 3,124,492 3,388,867 205,861 226,745 37,369 9,836 ," 

Total ending allowance balance $ 2,853,397 $ 3,124,492 $ 3,388,867 $ 205,861 $ 226,745 $ 37,369 $ 9,836 ," 

Loans 

Loans individually evaluated for impairment $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Loans collectively evaluated for impairment 108,598,861 238,325,291 59,265,255 21 ,883,097 40,538,002 468,610,! 

Total ending loans balance $ 108,598,861 $238,325,291 $ 59,265,255 $ 21 ,883,097 $ 40,538,002 $ $468,610,! 

The Bank did not have any impaired loans at the end of 2019 and 2018. 

Non-accrual loans and loans past due over 89 days still on accrual include both smaller balance homo-
geneous loans that are collectively evaluated for impairment and individually classified impaired loans. 
The Bank had no loans in non-accrual as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. 

The following table presents the recorded investment in loans past due over 89 days still on accrual by 
class of loans as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.

Loans Past Due Over
89 Days and Still Accruing

2019 2018
Commercial and industrial $        739,606 $ - 
Commercial real estate  - - 
Land and construction  - - 
Agricultural land, real estate and production  - - 
Consumer
   Total

 - - 
$        739,606 $ - 

The following table presents the aging of the recorded investment in past due loans as of December 31, 
2019 and 2018 by class of loans.
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Greater Than 
89 Days Total Loans Not 

Commercial and industrial
Past Due Past Due Past Due Total

$           739,606 $           889,316 $    159,089,544 $    159,978,860
Commercial real estate  -  659,051       401,901,249       402,560,300
Land and construction  - -       100,693,621       100,693,621
Agricultural land, real estate and production  -  14,980         30,977,211         30,992,191
Consumer
   Total

 -  9,656         40,040,909         40,050,565
$           739,606 $        1,573,003 $    732,702,534 $    734,275,537

Troubled Debt Restructurings:
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Bank had no troubled debt restructurings.

Credit Quality Indicators:
The Bank assigns loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers 
to service their debt such as: current financial condition of borrowers and guarantors, historical payment 
experience, credit documentation, public information, and current economic trends, among other fac-
tors. The Bank analyzes loans individually by classifying the loans as to credit risk. This analysis includes 
loans with an outstanding balance greater than $1,500,000 and non-homogeneous loans, such as com-
mercial and commercial real estate loans. The analysis is performed on a semi-annual basis. These risk 
ratings are also subject to examination by independent specialists engaged by the Bank and the Bank’s 
regulators. The risk categories can be grouped into four major categories, defined as follows:

Pass – A pass loan is a credit with no existing or known potential weaknesses deserving of manage-
ment’s close attention.

Special Mention – A special mention loan has potential weaknesses that deserve management’s 
close attention. If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the re-
payment prospects for the loan or in the Bank’s credit position at some future date. Special Mention 
loans are not adversely classified and do not expose the Bank to sufficient risk to warrant adverse 
classification.

Substandard – A substandard loan is inadequately protected by the current net worth and pay-
ing capacity of the borrower or the value of the collateral pledged, if any. Loans classified as sub-
standard have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt. 
Well-defined weaknesses include a project’s lack of marketability, inadequate cash flow or collateral 
support, failure to complete construction on time or the project’s failure to fulfill economic expecta-
tions. They are characterized by the distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain some loss if the 
deficiencies are not corrected.

Doubtful – Loans classified doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as sub-
standard with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on 
the basis of currently known facts, conditions and values, highly questionable, and improbable.

Loans not meeting the criteria above are analyzed individually as part of the above described process 
are considered to be pass-rated loans. Loans listed as not rated are either less than $300,000 or are 
included in groups of homogeneous loans. 
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The following table shows the risk category of the loan portfolio by class at December 31, 2019 and 
2018:

Special 
December 31, 2019
Commercial and Industrial

Pass Mention Substandard Doubtful Not Rated
$    155,430,952 $       2,195,102 $     2,352,806 $  - $  -

Commercial Real Estate      392,178,125          5,809,181        4,572,994 - -
Land and Construction      100,693,621  - - - -
Agricultural Land, Real Estate 
and Production  29,184,248          1,807,943  - -  -
Consumer
Total

 40,050,565  - - - -
$    717,537,511 $       9,812,226 $     6,925,800 $  - $  -

Special 
December 31, 2018
Commercial and Industrial

Pass Mention Substandard Doubtful Not Rated
$    100,237,600 $       5,702,199 $     2,659,062 $  - $  -

Commercial Real Estate      227,454,826          8,072,844        2,797,621 - -
Land and Construction        59,265,255  - - - -
Agricultural Land, Real Estate 
and Production  21,006,655             876,442  - -  -
Consumer
   Total

 40,538,002  - - - -
$    448,502,338 $     14,651,485 $     5,456,683 $  - $  -

NOTE 5. FAIR VALUE

Fair Value Hierarchy:
Fair Value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit 
price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants on the measurement date. The Bank groups its assets and liabilities mea-
sured at fair value into three levels. Valuations within these levels are based upon:

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has 
the ability to access as of the measurement date.

Level 2 – Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar 
assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or 
can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 – Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a company’s own assumptions about the assump-
tions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.

The Bank used the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate fair value:

Cash and Cash Equivalents: The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents is a reasonable esti-
mate of fair value and are classified as Level 1.

Interest-Bearing Deposits in Other Financial Institutions: The fair values were calculated using dis-
counted cash flow models based on market rates resulting in a Level 2 classification.
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Investment Securities: The fair values of investment securities classified as available for sale and held 
to maturity are based on quoted market prices, if available (Level 1) at the reporting date. For securities 
where quoted prices are not available, fair values are calculated based on market prices of similar secu-
rities (Level 2), using matrix pricing. Matrix pricing is a mathematical technique commonly used to price 
debt securities that are not actively traded, values debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted 
prices for the specific securities but rather relying on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark 
quoted securities (Level 2 inputs). For securities where quoted prices or market prices of similar securi-
ties are not available, fair values are calculated using discounted cash flows or other market indicators 
(Level 3). 

Loans Held For Sale:  Loans held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value, which is evalu-
ated on a pool-level basis. The fair value of loans held for sale is determined using quoted prices for 
similar assets, adjusted for specific attributes of that loan or other observable market data, such as 
outstanding commitments from third party investors (Level 2). 

Loans: The fair value of fixed rate loans is determined as the present value of expected future cash flows 
discounted at the current interest rate that represents a mix of residential and commercial real estate. 
The market rate is initially set at the 30-year mortgage rate resulting in a Level 3 classification. Vari-
able rate loans that reprice frequently with changes in approximate market rates were valued using the 
outstanding principal balance resulting in a Level 3 classification. The estimated fair values of financial 
instruments disclosed below follow the guidance in ASU 2016-01, which prescribes an “exit price” ap-
proach in estimating and disclosing fair value of financial instruments incorporating discounts for credit, 
liquidity, and marketability factors. 

Bankers’ Bank Stock: Bankers’ Bank Stock includes Federal Home Loan Bank Stock, The Indepen-
dent Bankers Bank Stock, and Pacific Coast Bankers Bank Stock. The Federal Home Loan Bank invest-
ment is carried at cost and is redeemable at par with certain restrictions. It is not practical to determine 
fair value of bank stock due to restrictions placed on its transferability. 

Accrued Interest Receivable/Payable: The respective carrying values of certain on-balance-sheet fi-
nancial instruments approximated their fair values. These financial instruments include accrued interest 
receivable and accrued interest payable. Carrying values were assumed to approximate fair values for 
these financial instruments as they are short term in nature and their recorded amounts approximate fair 
values or are receivable or payable on demand. The Bank does not use derivative financial instruments. 
The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate their fair value resulting in a Level 2 or Level 3 
classification.

Deposits: The fair values of demand deposits, savings deposits, and money market deposits without 
defined maturities were the amounts payable on demand at the reporting date resulting in a Level 1 
classification. For variable rate deposits where the Bank has the contractual right to change rates, car-
rying value was assumed to approximate fair value resulting in a Level 1 classification. For certificates 
of deposit with defined maturities, the fair values were calculated using discounted cash flow models 
based on market interest rates for different product types and maturity dates. The discount rates used 
were based on rates for comparable deposits resulting in a Level 2 classification.
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Assets Recorded at Fair Value

The Bank’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are 
summarized below:

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2019 Using:
Quoted Prices in Significant 

Active Markets for Significant Other Unobservable 
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value
Securities available for sale:
U.S. treasury bonds $ - $            8, 036,100 $ - $    8, 036,100
U.S. government sponsored agencies - 8, 425,130 - 8, 425,130
Collateralized mortgage obligations - 31, 296,334 - 31, 296,334
State and political subdivision - 4, 587,332 - 4, 587,332
Corporate
   Total assets measured at fair value

- - - -
$ - $          52, 344,896 $ - $  52, 344,896

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2018 Using: 
Quoted Prices in Significant 

Active Markets for Significant other Unobservable 
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs Total 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value 
Securities available for sale: 
U.S. treasury bonds $ $ 9,906,1 80 $ $ 9,906,180 
U.S. government sponsored agencies 6,915,360 6,915,360 
Collateral ized mortgage obligations 8,653,1 34 8,653,134 
State and pol itical subdivision 697,242 697,242 
Corporate 100,134 100,134 

Total assets measured at fair value $ $ 26,272 ,050 $ $ 26,272,050 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during 2019 and 2018. There were no recurring 
Level 3 assets or liabilities measured at fair value during 2019 or 2018.

The Bank may be required, from time to time, to measure certain assets at fair value on a non-recurring 
basis. These include assets that are measured at the lower of cost or market value that were recognized 
at fair value, which was below cost at the reporting date. There were no assets measured at fair value 
at year-end 2019 or 2018. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value, at De-
cember 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
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Fair Value Measurements at 

Carrying
December 31, 2019 Using:

Total 
(Dollars in thousands) Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value
Financial Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $    50,031 $    50,031 $         - $ - $      50,031
Interest bearing deposits in other
    Financial Institutions     135,786 - 135,786 -  135,786
Securities held to maturity       15,079 - 15,444 -  15,444
Loans held for sale       23,800 - 23,800 -  23,800
Loans, net     723,419 - -     722,948  722,948
FHLB and Bankers' Bank stock         3,876 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Accrued interest receivable         3,221 - 453         2,768           3,221

Financial Liabilities:
Noninterest-bearing demand deposits $  345,605 $  345,605 $         - $ - $    345,605
Interest-bearing demand deposits     121,162     121,984 - -       121,984
Savings and money market deposits     275,734     275,878 - -       275,878
Time certificates of deposit     161,847 - 161,380 -  161,380
Accrued interest payable            193 9            184 -  193

Fair Value Measurements at 
December 31, 2018 Using: 

Carrying Total 
(Dollars in thousands) Amount Level 1 Level2 Level3 Fair Value 
Financial Assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,922 $ 16,922 $ $ $ 16,922 
Interest bearing deposits in other 

Financial Institutions 95,205 95,047 95,047 
Securities held to maturity 21 ,613 21 ,794 21 ,794 
Loans held for sale 19,202 19,202 19,202 
Loans, net 461 ,342 448,157 448,157 
FHLB and Bankers' Bank stock 2,350 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Accrued interest receivable 2,398 396 2,002 2,398 

Financial Liabilities: 
Non interest-bearing demand deposits $ 259,725 $ 259,725 $ $ $ 259,725 
Interest-bearing demand deposits 88,934 91 ,578 91 ,578 
Savings and money market deposits 156,154 155,945 155,945 
T ime certificates of deposit 79,313 78,807 78,807 
Accrued interest payable 158 7 151 158 

Management monitors the availability of observable market data to assess the appropriate classification 
of financial instruments within the fair value hierarchy. Changes in economic conditions or model-based 
valuation techniques may require the transfer of financial instruments from one fair value level to another. 
In such instances, the transfer is reported at the beginning of the reporting period. 
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Management evaluates the significance of transfers between levels based upon the nature of the finan-
cial instrument and size of the transfer relative to total assets, total liabilities or total earnings.

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 during 2019. 
NOTE 6. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

The following presents the cost of premises and equipment including leasehold improvements and the 
related accumulated depreciation and amortization at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

December 31, 
2019 2018 

Land $ 830,000 $ 
Bui lding 3,410,000 
Furniture, fixtu res and equipment 2,232,860 1,993,308 
Software and capital ized data & item processing 185,448 117,285 
Computer equipment 946,900 850,997 
Automobile 16,215 
Leasehold improvements 3,083,713 2,880,710 
Construction-in-progress 195,640 

Total premises and equipment 10,900,776 5,842,300 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (3,253,034} (2 ,746,261} 

Premises and equipment, net $ 7,647,742 $ 3,096,039 

Depreciation expense was $609,992 and $395,873 for 2019 and 2018, respectively.

NOTE 7. LEASES

Lessee Arrangements

The Bank enters into leases in the normal course of business primarily for branches, back-office opera-
tions, and loan production offices. The Bank’s leases have remaining terms ranging from 1 to 13 years, 
some of which include renewal options to extend the lease for up to 5 years and some of which include 
options to terminate the lease within 90 days. The Bank’s leases do not include residual value guaran-
tees or covenants. 

The Bank leases certain branch properties and equipment under long-term operating lease agreements. 
These leases expire on various dates through 2033 and have various renewal options of five years each. 
Some leases may include a free rent period or have net operating costs associated with them.

The Bank includes lease extension options in the lease term if, after considering relevant economic 
factors, it is reasonably certain the Bank will exercise the option. In addition, the Bank has elected to 
account for any non-lease components in its real estate leases as part of the associated lease compo-
nent. The Bank has also elected not to recognize leases with original lease terms of 12 months or less 
(short-term leases) on the Bank’s balance sheet. 

In addition to the office building leases, the Bank has two leases for ATM and night depository kiosks. 
The operating leases had initial terms of five years each and various renewal options of three years each.
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Building and kiosk rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, was approximately 
$662,578 and $749,355, respectively. 

Leases are classified as operating or finance leases at the lease commencement date. Lease expense 
for operating leases and short-term leases is recognized on a straight-line bases over the lease term. 
Right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities 
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Right-of-use assets and lease li-
abilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the estimated present value of lease 
payments over the lease term. 

The Bank uses its incremental borrowing rate at lease commencement to calculate the present value of 
lease payments when the rate implicit in a lease is not known. The Bank’s incremental borrowing rate is 
based on the FHLB amortizing advance rate, adjusted for the lease term and other factors. 

Lease Obligations

Future undiscounted lease payments for operating leases with initial terms of one year or more as of 
December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Operating
Leases

2020 $           630,172
2021              612,128
2022              561,330
2023              530,815
2024              461,300
Thereafter           3,259,727
      Total undiscounted lease payments           6,055,472
Less: imputed interest              998,266

Net lease liabilities $        5,057,206

NOTE 8. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The change in goodwill during the year is as follows:

2019 
Balance at beginning of year $ 
Acquired goodwil l 25,761,654 
Impairment 
Balance at end of year $ 25,761,654 

Business combinations involving the Bank’s acquisition of the equity interests or net assets of another 
enterprise give rise to goodwill. Total goodwill at December 31, 2019 consisted of $25,761,654 
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representing the excess of the cost of LHB over the net of the amounts assigned to assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed in the transaction accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The value 
of goodwill is ultimately derived from the Bank’s ability to generate net earnings after the acquisition and 
is not deductible for tax purposes. 
Acquired Intangible Assets: Acquired intangible assets were as follows at year-end:

2019 
Gross 

Carrying Accumulated 
Amount Amortization 

Amortized intangible assets: 
Core deposit intangibles $ 3,707,000 $ 138,000 
Other customer relationship intangibles 

------------
Tot a I $ 3,707,000 $ 138,000 

The intangible assets at December 31, 2019 represents the estimated fair value of the core deposit re-
lationships acquired in the acquisition of LHB in 2019 of $3,707,000. Core deposit intangibles are being 
amortized using a dollar weighted deposit runoff on an annualized basis over an estimated life of ten 
years from the date of acquisition. At December 31, 2019, the weighted average remaining amortization 
period is 9.75 years. The carrying value of intangible assets at December 31, 2019 was $3,569,000, net 
of $138,000 in accumulated amortization expense. 

The following table summarizes the Bank’s estimated core deposit intangible amortization expense for 
each of the next five years:

Estimated 
Core Deposit 

Intangible 
Year ending December 31, Amortization

2020  $         643,000 
2021             486,000 
2022             406,000 
2023             363,000 
2024             331,000 

        Thereafter
     Total

         1,340,000 
 $      3,569,000 
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NOTE 9. DEPOSITS

Time deposits that meet or exceed the FDIC Insurance limit of $250,000 at year-end 2019 and 2018 
were $78,792,989 and $34,994,657, respectively. 

The scheduled maturities for all time deposits for the next five years were as follows:

   2020

   

 $  

2019

149,236,661 
2021             9,604,945 
2022             2,359,954 
2023 361,435 
2024 50,505 

        Thereafter
 $  

233,735 
161,847,235 

NOTE 10. BORROWED FUNDS

At December 31, 2019, the Bank had unsecured lines of credit with its correspondent banks in an ag-
gregate amount of $11,000,000, at interest rates that vary with market conditions. As of December 31, 
2019, the Bank had no federal funds purchased. 

The Bank has established a secured borrowing arrangement, secured by loans totaling approximately 
$287,843,681 with the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco (“FHLB”). As of December 31, 2019, 
the Bank had $145,763,272 in borrowing capacity available through the FHLB under which overnight 
and term advances were available. These advances are secured by assets including the Bank’s owner-
ship interest in the capital stock of the FHLB, securities and loans. The Bank’s credit limit varies accord-
ing to the amount and composition of the investments and loan portfolios pledged as collateral. 

The Bank had no borrowed funds outstanding at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 under 
these arrangements.

NOTE 11. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Bank established the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP), an unfunded noncontribu-
tory defined benefit pension plan, to provide supplemental retirement benefits to a select group of key 
executives and senior officers. The Bank uses December 31 as the measurement date for this plan. 

The following table reflects the changes in obligations and plan assets of the defined benefit pension 
plan for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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2019 2018
Change in benefit obligation

Beginning benefit obligation $      3,273,567 $      2,824,132
Service cost            113,036  131,364
Interest cost              95,085  106,292
Amendments  - 322,398
Actuarial gain (loss)           (261,770)  (66,078)
Benefits paid             (45,655)  (44,541)
   Ending benefit obligation  3,174,263  3,273,567

Change in plan assets
Beginning plan assets  - -
Employer contributions  45,655  44,541
Benefits paid             (45,655)             (44,541)
   Ending plan assets  - -
Funded status at end of year $     (3,174,263) $     (3,273,567)
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Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31 consist of:

Change in benefit obligation 2019 2018
Unrecognized net actuarial gain $        (389,162) $        (152,717)
Unrecognized prior service cost  107,466  161,199
Net liability recognized in earnings $        (281,696) $             8,482

The components of net periodic benefit cost and other amounts recognized in other comprehensive 
income at December 31 are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 2018

Components of net periodic benefit cost (forecast)
Service cost $         116,280 $         113,036 $       131,364
Interest cost              94,841              95,085          106,292
Amortization of prior service cost              53,733              53,733          161,199
Amortization of actuarial (gains)/ losses
Net periodic benefit cost

           
$        

 (10,248)             (25,325)
 254,606 $         236,529

 -
$       398,855

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income

Year ended December 31, 
2019 2018

Net loss (gain) $        (261,770) $          (66,078)
Prior service cost (credit)  - 322,398
Amortization of gain/(loss)  25,325  -
Amortization of prior service cost             (53,733)  (161,199)
   Total recognized in other comprehensive (loss) 
    income           (290,178)  95,121

   Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and 
    other comprehensive (loss) income $        (526,707) $        (303,734)

The components of net periodic benefit cost other than the service cost component are included in the 
line item “other noninterest expense” in the income statement.

The estimated net gain and prior service costs for the defined benefit pension plan that will be amortized 
from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost over the next year are 
$10,248 and $53,733.  

Assumptions
Weighted average assumption
cost at December 31:

s used to determine pension benefit obligations and net periodic pension 

2019 2018
Discount rate used to determine net periodic benefit cost 3.27% 3.84%
Discount rate used to determine benefit obligations 3.01% 4.05%
Future salary increases N/A N/A
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NOTE 12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) Plan: All employees of the Bank are eligible to participate in the Bank’s 401(k) benefit plan, which 
is a tax-deferred savings plan designed to assist employees in preparing for their retirement years. The 
401(k) Plan allows employees to contribute to the plan up to certain limits prescribed by the Internal 
Revenue Service. The Bank matches 25% of contributions up to 6% of compensation. Total expense for 
the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 was $136,552 and $110,460, respectively.

Split-Dollar Life Insurance: The Bank accounts for split-dollar life insurance in accordance with ASC 
715-60, Compensation - Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits, which requires that endorsement
split-dollar life insurance arrangements which provide a postretirement benefit to an employee be re-
corded based on the substance of the agreement with the employee. If the employer has effectively
agreed to provide the employee with a death benefit, the employer should accrue, over the service pe-
riod, a liability for the actuarial present value of the future death benefit as of the employee’s expected
retirement date. The total liability recorded as of years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018 was $1,386,015 and $1,132,925, respectively. Total expense recognized during the years ended
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 was $201,830 and $95,279, respectively.

NOTE 13. INCOME TAxES

The provision for income taxes is as follows for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

2019 2018
Current expense:

Federal $   3,400,622 $   2,800,509
   State      1,977,142      1,805,820
       Total current      5,377,764      4,606,329
Deferred expense:

Federal        (197,189)          (36,393)
   State          (27,864)          (83,551)
       Total deferred        (225,053)        (119,944)
Total provision $   5,152,711 $   4,486,385

The effective tax rates differ from the federal statutory rate of 21% for 2019 and 2018 applied to income 
before income taxes due to the following:

2019 2018
Federal statutory rate 21.00% 21.00%
State income tax, net of federal effect 8.83% 8.56%
Tax exempt interest (0.89%) (1.02%)
Acquisition related costs 0.55% 0.00%
Bank owned life insurance (0.34%) (0.26%)
Split dollar expense 0.24% 0.13%
Stock-based compensation 0.09% 0.02%
Other 0.16% (0.15%)
Net 29.64% 28.28%
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Deferred income taxes are the result of differences between income tax accounting and accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, with respect to income and expense rec-
ognition. The tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

2019 2018
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan losses $   3,043,936 $   2,833,754
Deferred compensation      1,021,706         965,277
Accruals      1,145,611      1,174,065
Current state income tax         421,111         385,152
Unrealized loss on available for sale 
securities and pension  -  87,676
Fair value of loans and deposits      1,159,637  -
Lease liability      1,495,092  -
Other deferred tax assets         173,186         112,303
   Gross deferred tax assets      8,460,279      5,558,227

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred loan costs     (1,541,698)     (1,251,685)
Core deposit intangible     (1,055,125)  -
Premises and equipment        (386,311)        (370,775)
Right-of-use asset     (1,461,235)  -
Other deferred tax liabilities          (52,710)          (48,702)
Unrealized gain on available for sale 
securities and pension  (749)  -
   Gross deferred tax liabilities     (4,497,828)     (1,671,162)

   Net deferred tax asset $   3,962,451 $   3,887,065

Management believes, that it is more likely than not, that the deferred tax assets will be realized as a 
result of expected continued profitability. Accordingly, no valuation allowance has been established as 
of December 31, 2019 or December 31, 2018. 

The Bank has no material unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2019 and 2018 and does not ex-
pect the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits to significantly increase or decrease within the next 
twelve months. 

The Bank did not have any interest and penalties recorded in the income statement for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 from unrecognized tax benefits.

The Bank is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax of the state of California. The Bank 
is no longer subject to examination by taxing authorities for years before 2016 and 2015, for federal and 
California purposes, respectively.
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NOTE 14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Loan related activity to principal officers, directors, and their affiliates during 2019 were as follows:

2019 

Beginning balance $ 685,826 
New loans or disbursements 203,403 
Effect of changes in composition of related partie: 12,775,679 
Principal repayments (314,846) 
Ending balance $ 13,350,062 

~~~~~~~ 

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, no related party loans were on non-accrual or classified for regulatory 
reporting purposes. Deposits from principal officers, directors, and their affiliates at year-end 2019 and 
2018 were $1,218,489 and $1,127,799, respectively.

NOTE 15. STOCk-BASED COMPENSATION

The Bank has two share based compensation plans as described below. Total compensation cost that 
has been charged against income for those plans was $474,449 and $448,109 for 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. The total income tax benefit was $37,183 and $51,417 for 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Bank estimates the fair value of each option award as of the date of grant using a closed form op-
tion valuation (Black-Scholes) model and the following assumptions. Expected volatilities are based on 
historical volatilities of the Bank’s common stock commensurate with the expected term of the option. 
The “simplified” method described in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bul-
letin No. 110 is used to determine the expected term of the options due to the lack of sufficient historical 
data. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant 
with substantially the same term as the expected term of the option.  

The fair value of options granted was determined using the following weighted average assumptions as 
of grant date.

2019 2018
Risk-free interest rate 1.69% 2.22%
Expected term (yrs.)  6.00  6.00
Expected stock price volatility 26.72% 34.00%
Dividend yield 0.57% 0.55%

2003 Stock Option Plan: The Bank adopted a qualified stock option plan (the “Option Plan”) for em-
ployees, non-employee directors and Bank founders, under which a maximum of 500,202 shares of 
Bank’s common stock may be issued. The Option Plan calls for the exercise prices of the options to be 
equal to or greater than the fair market value of the stock at the time of grant. Options granted to Bank 
founders who are not also Bank directors or Bank officers were fully vested upon the date of grant. All 
other options shares granted have daily vesting over the first four years of the option contract. All option 
contracts for founders who are not also Bank directors or Bank officers have expiration dates of 10 years 
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from the date of grant. All director and employee option contracts have expiration dates on the earlier of 
termination of service or 10 years from the date of grant. The Option Plan expired during 2014 and was 
replaced with the 2014 Omnibus Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”).

All options granted under the Option Plan have a 10-year term and have been issued with exercise pric-
es at the fair market value of the underlying shares at the date of grant. The non-qualified stock option 
awards to the organizers vested 100% immediately, whereas regular stock option awards to directors 
and employees vest over a four-year period from the date the options were granted.

The following is a summary of the activity relating to the Bank’s Option Plan for 2019 as presented be-
low:

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Shares Price Life Value 
Options outstanding at beg inning of year 
Granted 

14,750 $11.27 

Exercised 
Expired 
Forfeited 

(3,700) $13.08 

Options outstanding at end of year 11,050 $10.67 1.88 tears $462 ,220 

Options fully vested and expected to vest 
Exercisable at end of year 

11,050 
11,050 $10.67 1.88 ~ears 

$462 ,220 
$462,220 

Information related to the stock option plan during each year follows:

2019 2018
Intrinsic value of options exercised $133,554 $565,413
Cash received from option exercises $48,382 $126,470
Tax benefit realized from option exercises $25,784 $27,867
Weighted average fair value of options granted  - -

As of December 31, 2019, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock 
options granted under the Option Plan. All shares issued under this plan fully vested during the year 
2016.

2014 Omnibus Plan: The Bank adopted the Omnibus Plan in May 2014 for employees and non-employ-
ee directors, which will continue in effect until February 19, 2024. The Omnibus Plan allows qualified 
stock option grants for employees and non-qualified restricted stock awards for officers and non-em-
ployee directors. The maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued under this plan 
is 469,970 unless amended by the Board or the shareholders of the Bank. 

The Omnibus Plan permits the grant of non-statutory options, incentive stock options and restricted 
stock awards to directors and employees of the Bank. Options granted under the Omnibus Plan may 
be incentive stock options or non-statutory stock options, as determined by the plan administrator at 
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the time of grant of an option, however incentive stock options may be granted only to employees. In 
addition, restricted stock awards may be granted under the Omnibus Plan to directors and employees.

Stock Options

The per share exercise price for the shares to be issued upon exercise of any option shall be such price 
as is determined by the plan administrator, but no less than 100 percent of the fair market value per 
share on the date of grant. All option contracts have expiration dates on the earlier of termination of 
service or 10 years from the date of grant.

The following is a summary of the activity relating to the Bank’s Omnibus Plan for 2019 as presented 
below:

Weighted 
Weighted Average 
Average Remaining Aggregate 
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic 

Stock Options Shares Price Life Value 
Options outstanding at beginning of year 58,071 $37.99 
Granted 53,500 $50.34 
Exercised (2,204) $21.71 
Expired 
Forfeited 
Options outstanding at end of year 109,367 $44.36 8.27 tears $889,915 

Options fully vested and expected to vest 92 ,324 $757,474 
Exercisable at end of year 41 ,798 $34.80 6.57 tears $739,682 

Information related to the stock option plan during each year follows:

2019 2018
Intrinsic value of options exercised $60,944 $93,434
Cash received from option exercises $47,854 $71,566
Tax benefit realized from option exercises  - $4,926

 Weighted average fair value of options granted $13.64 $17.57

As of December 31, 2019, there was $920,388 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-
vested stock options granted under the plan. The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted 
average period of 3.19 years. 

Restricted Stock Awards
The following is a summary of the activity relating to the Bank’s non-vested shares under this plan for 
the year ended December 31, 2019 as presented below:
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Weighted 
Average 

Grant Date 
Nonvested Shares Shares Fair Value 
Nonvested awards at January 1, 2019 
Granted 

10,205 
900 

$44.78 
$49.17 

Vested 
Forfeited 

(6,993) $42.29 

Nonvested awards at December 31, 2019 4,112 $49.98 

As of December 31, 2019, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested 
shares granted under the Omnibus Plan. The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 was $261,592 and $45,900. 

NOTE 16. REGULATORY CAPITAL MATTERS

Regulatory Capital: The Bank is subject to various regulatory capital adequacy requirements admin-
istered by the banking regulatory agencies. Capital adequacy guidelines and, additionally for banks, 
prompt corrective action regulations, involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain 
off-balance-sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting practices. Capital amounts and classifi-
cations are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators. Failure to meet minimum capital require-
ments can initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if 
not undertaken, would have a direct material effect on the Bank’s financial statements. Management be-
lieves as of December 31, 2019, the Bank meets all capital adequacy requirements to which it is subject. 

Prompt corrective action regulations define five classifications: well-capitalized, adequately capitalized, 
undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized, and critically undercapitalized, although these terms 
are not used to represent overall financial condition. If adequately capitalized, regulatory approval is 
required to accept brokered deposits. If undercapitalized, capital distributions are limited, as is asset 
growth and expansion, and capital restoration plans are required. At year-end 2019 and 2018, the most 
recent regulatory notifications categorized the Bank as well-capitalized under the regulatory framework 
for prompt corrective action. There are no conditions or events since that notification that management 
believes have changed the institution’s category. 

Actual and required capital amounts (in thousands) and ratios are presented below at year-end.
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To Be Well 
Capitalized Under 

Required for Capital Prompt Corrective 
(Dollars in thousands) Actual Adequacy Purposes

Amount Ratio

Action Regulations

Amount RatioAmount Ratio

As of December 31, 2019

   Total capital to risk weighted assets $   131,913 16.26% $     80,116 9.875% $  81,130 10.00%

   Tier 1 (Core) capital to risk weighted assets $   121,766 15.01% $     63,890 7.875% $  64,904 8.00%

   Common Tier 1 (CET1) to risk weighted assets $   121,766 15.01% $     51,720 6.375% $  52,734 6.50%

   Tier 1 (Core) capital to average assets $   121,766 11.85% $     41,088 4.000% $  51,359 5.00%

As of December 31, 2018

   Total capital to risk weighted assets $     75,165 14.71% $     50,468 9.875% $  51,107 10.00%

   Tier 1 (Core) capital to risk weighted assets $     68,732 13.45% $     40,247 7.875% $  40,886 8.00%

   Common Tier 1 (CET1) to risk weighted assets $     68,732 13.45% $     32,581 6.375% $  33,220 6.50%

   Tier 1 (Core) capital to average assets $     68,732 10.26% $     26,801 4.000% $  33,501 5.00%

Dividend Restrictions: The Board of Directors may, to the extent of such earnings and the Bank’s net 
capital requirements and subject to the provisions of the California Financial Code, declare and pay a 
portion of such earnings to its shareholders as dividends. No cash dividend will be declared without a 
complete analysis of capital impact, current economic assessment, and current risk analysis. 
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NOTE 17. LOAN COMMITMENTS AND OTHER RELATED ACTIVITIES

Correspondent Banking: At times, the Bank maintains deposit amounts at corresponding banks that ex-
ceed federally insured limits. Uninsured deposits totaled $11,198,086 at December 31, 2019. The Bank 
has not experienced any losses on amounts exceeding the insured limits. 

Financial Investments With Off-Balance Sheet Risk: The Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-
balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These 
financial instruments include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit, overdraft protec-
tion and financial guarantees. Those instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and in-
terest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized in the balance sheets. The contract amounts of those 
instruments reflect the extent of involvement the Bank has in particular classes of financial instruments. 

The Bank’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party for commitments 
to extend credit, standby letters of credit, and financial guarantees is represented by the contractual 
amount of those instruments. The Bank uses the same credit policies in making commitments and con-
ditional obligations as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments. 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of 
any condition established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other 
termination clauses and may require payment of a fee. Since many of the commitments are expected 
to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future 
cash requirements. The Bank evaluates each customer’s credit worthiness on a case-by-case basis. 
The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Bank upon extension of credit, is based 
on management’s credit evaluation. Collateral held varies but may include cash, securities, accounts 
receivable, inventory, property, plant and equipment, residential real estate and income-producing com-
mercial properties.

Standby letters of credit and financial guarantees written are conditional commitments issued by the 
Bank to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third party. The credit risk involved in issuing let-
ters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers. 

The contractual amounts of financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk at year-end December 31 
were as follows:

December 31 , December 31 , 
2019 2018 

Fixed Variable Fixed Variable 
Rate Rate Rate Rate 

Commitments to make loans $27,256,734 $ 156,258,958 $ 6,889,685 $ 135,616,464 
Unused lines of credit 462 ,204 47,672,666 469,308 33,938,511 
Standby letters of credit 514,000 2,136,756 

$27,718,938 $ 204,445,624 $ 7,358,993 $ 171,691,731 

Commitments to make loans are generally made for periods of 90 days or less. 
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NOTE 18. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The factors used in the earnings per share computation follow: 
2019

$  

2018

 11,380,086

Basic earnings per share:

Net income $   12,275,250

Weighted average common shares outstanding        2,719,384       2,432,290 

Basic earnings per common share $              4.51 $              4.68

Diluted earnings per share:

Net income $   12,275,250 $   11,380,086

Weighted average common shares outstanding for 
basic earnings per common share        2,719,384       2,432,290 

Add: Dilutive effects of assumed exercises of stock 
options

Weighted average outstanding and dilutive potential 

25,400 33,732

common shares        2,744,784       2,466,022 

Diluted earnings per common share $              4.47 $              4.61

Stock options for 89,000 and 42,225 shares of common stock were not considered in computing 
diluted earnings per common share for the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, 
respectively, because they were anti-dilutive. 
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